IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 19-0547

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

BEAU HERMAN MILLER,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

---

On Appeal from Montana Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County  
The Honorable John A. Kutzman, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

Jennifer Dwyer  
Avignone, Banick & Williams, PLLC  
3825 Valley Commons Dr., Suite 6  
Bozeman, Montana 59718  
Ph: (406) 586-8330  
Fax: (406) 586-8242  
dwyer@abwlaw.net

TIMOTHY FOX  
Montana Attorney General  
C. MARK FOWLER  
Assistant Attorney General  
Appellate Services Bureau  
215 N. Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. Whether the District Court erred when it permitted the State to exercise a peremptory strike in a discriminatory manner to remove the only non-white juror from the jury pool?
- II. Whether counsel for the defendant provided ineffective assistance of counsel when he withdrew Miller's *Batson* challenge to the State's peremptory strike?
- III. Whether Miller was deprived of a fair trial by the State's improper comments in closing arguments and provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to prosecutor's improper comments in closing argument.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Beau Herman Miller ("Miller") was charged in Montana Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County with two counts of Assault with a Weapon, misdemeanor Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs, and misdemeanor Criminal Possession of Drug Paraphernalia.

The State alleged that on June 26, 2018, Miller purposely or knowingly caused reasonable apprehension of serious bodily injury to Brandon Campbell and to Jolene Ehnot with a weapon when Miller stood through the sunroof of a

Mercury vehicle, driven by Amber Miller, while pointing a gun at the individuals in a truck which they chased through Great Falls.

Law enforcement stopped the vehicles, interviewed the parties involved and obtained a search warrant to search Miller's vehicle. Inside the Mercury, law enforcement found a pistol, less than 60 grams of marijuana, and a marijuana grinder.

At the start of Miller's jury trial, the parties conducted voir dire. During a recess, a prospective juror notified the bailiff that she wished to speak to the Court. She told the parties she might not be fair as a juror because she was not white, she had observed the defendant was African American, and she had personally experienced racial discrimination on multiple occasions in Great Falls.

The State moved to strike the potential juror for cause. Miller objected and the Court denied the motion.

The State subsequently used a peremptory challenge to remove this juror from the venire. Miller objected that it violated Miller's right to equal protection of the law to permit the State to use its peremptory challenge to remove the only non-white juror from the venire in the trial of an African American defendant based upon race.

The State denied that it was motivated by race and contended that it made a race-neutral decision to exercise its peremptory strike against the juror based upon the juror's statement that she might not be fair.

Rather than deciding whether the State's explanation was race-neutral as required of *Batson*, the Court permitted further voir dire of the juror. The juror maintained that her concern with serving on this jury was that it made her uncomfortable and emotional based upon her personal experiences of racial discrimination.

After this questioning, Miller withdrew his challenge to the State's peremptory strike. The Court did not build a record or provide an explanation or ruling on the *Batson* challenge.

Witnesses for the State and defense testified at trial, as well as Miller. During closing arguments, the prosecutor repeatedly commented on witness credibility, Miller's guilt, and facts not in evidence, all undermining Miller's presumption of innocence and the purview of the jury to determine Miller's guilt.

The jury ultimately convicted Miller of one count of assault with a weapon against Brandon Campbell, criminal possession of dangerous drugs and drug paraphernalia. The jury found Miller not guilty of assault with a weapon against Ehnot.

The Court sentenced Miller to 9 years imprisonment at the Montana State Prison. Miller appeals.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Jolene Ehnot traveled in a white truck driven by Brandon Campbell in Great Falls when Beau Miller and his wife passed them in a gold Mercury vehicle on June 26, 2018. Ehnot claimed she saw Miller stand up through the sunroof of the vehicle, dance around, and point a gun at the back of their vehicle as he followed them. *Id.* Ehnot told Campbell not to pull over and called 911. TR 427.

Two bystanders- Gene Meeks and Doug Rogers- contacted law enforcement to report that two vehicles drove by at high rate of speed, and that a black male stood out of the sunroof of one of the vehicles, yelling “pull the fuck over.” TR 404-405, 422; State’s Exhibit 3. Doug Rogers claimed he observed a handgun in the male’s hand, and asked his friend if that was a gun. TR 686.

Great Falls police officers stopped the two vehicles, removed all occupants at gunpoint, and questioned them. Ehnot and Campbell claimed that they saw Miller standing through the sunroof of the Mercury pointing a gun at them while they drove on Overlook Drive. TR 427, 532.

Miller contended that Campbell stole money from him one month prior. TR 600. Miller was trying to protect his family because Campbell had threatened him and his family and Miller believed Campbell was dangerous. TR 624, 629, 632.

On June 26, 2018, Miller noticed Campbell only after Campbell swerved his car towards the Mercury and Amber had to swerve to avoid collision. TR 621. Miller told Amber to follow Campbell to try to defend them from Campbell. TR 621, 625. Miller explained he wanted Campbell to pull over because he wanted to know who he was dealing with, to put an end to this and deal with it man to man. TR 654. Miller contended everyone could walk away peacefully. *Id.*

Miller acknowledged the presence of a firearm in the vehicle but denied that he ever pointed it at anyone or held it out of the vehicle. TR 640-42. Miller denied seeing Ehnor or knowing that she was in Campbell's vehicle. TR 641. Miller admitted to law enforcement that he possessed marijuana in the Mercury.

Law enforcement obtained a search warrant and located inside the Mercury a pistol, less than 60 grams of marijuana and a marijuana grinder. TR 474.

In advance of trial, the parties filed several pretrial motions. The State sought, among other things, to exclude witness and video surveillance by Miller regarding Miller's contact with Campbell in November, 2018 where Campbell chased Miller in a vehicle, and it sought to prohibit Miller from arguing the affirmative defense of justified use of force. TR 123, 646

At a hearing on April 24, 2019, Miller confirmed that he did not intend to rely on the affirmative defense of justifiable use of force. TR 123. The Court ruled that it would permit Miller to present evidence of an alleged confrontation

where Campbell tried to run Miller off the road in November, 2018, which could impeach Campbell's testimony that he was afraid of Miller. TR 151.

At the April 29, 2019 trial, the State conducted voir dire and passed the jury for cause. TR at 153, 252. During a recess in Miller's voir dire, a prospective juror indicated that she wished to speak with the Court outside of the presence of the other jurors. TR 302.

Aravjo-Costa told the Court that she was the victim of race discrimination in Great Falls on numerous occasions. TR 303. She explained that she had been falsely suspected of crimes based on her race: she was pulled while driving home from work late at night seven to ten times that year without cause, she was wrongfully suspected of theft, shoved and otherwise mistreated on account of her race. TR 304-06. Aravjo-Costa said she was judged because she was not white, and people mistook her as Native American or Mexican, though she is Dutch-American. TR 304-05. She stated that she might not be a fair juror because she experienced racial discrimination and she saw that the defendant was not white. TR 308. The Court inquired:

THE COURT: And does having -- first of all, I'm sorry that that happened to you in this community.

Do you think that having experienced that firsthand makes you lean toward Mr. Miller here, and --

ARAVJO-COSTA: It might be.

THE COURT: -- feel sympathy for him?

ARAVJO-COSTA: It might, yeah. It might be. I don't know what happened in this case, what he did or did not do, but it might be, I be not fair, because I know what's not being white in a place there is a lot of white people.

THE COURT: Can you see how from his perspective

ARAVJO-COSTA: Yeah.

THE COURT: -- having somebody on the jury --

ARAVJO-COSTA: Yeah.

THE COURT: -- who lives in the community who isn't white and has endured some of this, would be helpful?

ARAVJO-COSTA: No. I don't see, because I got really emotional and because this happened many times. It was not one time or two. I say the other day, two years ago, I was with my husband and in Lewistown. We were in the McDonald's there, and I saw a white man -- my husband is white. He's a tall guy.

So I -- when he pushed me out of the way, because he was thinking I was alone, but then he saw my husband. And my husband call him outside to talk with him outside, but he get afraid of my husband. He didn't do. I try to calm down my husband so they did not get in a fight. Because of that, people thinking, kind of joking about it, and I also got emotional because it was not one time. It was many times.

THE COURT: Okay.

...

THE COURT: He's presumed innocent.

ARAVJO-COSTA: What?

THE COURT: He is presumed to be innocent, right?

ARAVJO-COSTA: Yeah.

THE COURT: You understand that, so if the State does not convince you that he did it, then you vote to find him not guilty, right?

ARAVJO-COSTA: Yeah, if I see he's innocent, yeah.

THE COURT: Do you think you can do that?

ARAVJO-COSTA: I don't -- I don't feel it's possible. That's why I try to talk with her at the beginning, but because I didn't have the room, yeah, because she ask different questions. And then Mr., there, also, different questions, so I did not have the room to tell anything about this, about how I feel.

Because I felt after I saw him, yeah, I didn't know also he wasn't a white guy. I just saw when I was already in the courtroom. And I feel that that isn't -- it's a concern because I would not really -- it might be that I be not fair, because of my personal experience.

THE COURT: Well, not fair in what way?

ARAVJO-COSTA: In what way, because I know how it is to be not white, yeah?

THE COURT: And does the experience that you've had being nonwhite in this community cause you to favor the State or the Defendant?

ARAVJO-COSTA: At the moment, I don't know, because I still -- I don't know what is going on, yeah?

TR 304-308.

The State moved to strike Aravjo-Costa for cause from the jury pool based on “her repeated statements of she ‘will be not fair’ or ‘cannot be fair,’ the standard is fairness and impartiality to both sides of this proceeding. She's indicated on every - two if not more occasions that she cannot be fair in this case.”

TR 309-10.

Miller objected to the State’s motion to strike Aravjo-Costa for cause. TR 310. Although he had a hard time understanding the juror, Miller understood that Aravjo-Costa was uncomfortable because she had experienced racism in Great Falls. TR 311. Miller was not sure if she was concerned that she may experience

more victimization because of her race if she sat on the jury. Tr. 312. Miller cited to *Batson v. Kentucky*, noting that Aravjo-Costa's statements put "race and racism squarely in the bull's-eye here." TR 312-13; *Batson* (1986), 476 U.S. 79.

The Court denied the State's motion, finding "she doesn't want to be on the jury because she thinks it's going to put her in a hard place because of her background," but that did not disqualify her from serving as a juror. TR 313, 318.

Voir dire recommenced and Miller passed the jury for cause. TR 357.

When the parties exercised their peremptory strikes, the State used its last challenge to remove Aravjo-Costa. TR 359.

Miller contended that the State's use of the peremptory was "clearly a violation of equal protection" because it was based on race. TR 359-60.

In response, the State contended its peremptory challenge against Aravjo-Costa was not racially motivated (TR 346), but based upon the juror's statement that she said she "will not be fair." TR 364-66.

The State continued:

The Court even inquired into whether it could be helpful to the Defendant to have somebody who has experience with racial discrimination, and she maintained her response. She said "no." In addition, my basis for bumping Ms. Costa is -- that was why I made my challenge for cause, and I think the State has challenge for cause when any juror says pointblank "I cannot be fair." And the standard for jury selection is fairness and impartiality to both sides. You have an inherent challenge for cause.

Here Ms. Costa, during Mr. van der Hagen's voir dire of her, expressed opinions that the criminal justice system is too harsh. She also reiterated that

this is not the case for her, and it's not an appropriate case for her when Mr. van der Hagen asked when she raised her hand.

...

And so because this ...this juror has outright said "I cannot be fair." The State has grave concerns. I would even point out when asked if she would be more harsh towards the State and more helpful and more in line with the Defendant, she still said, no, she could not be fair.

And so for all of those reasons, when I have a juror telling me she cannot exercise fairness and impartiality, it has, with all due respect, nothing to do with her race and everything to do with the fact that she stated "I cannot be fair."

TR 365-66.

The Court inquired of counsel what the remedy was if the Court disallowed the State's peremptory strike, and took a recess to research the matter when it received no satisfactory answer. TR 361, 368-69, 371. The Court expressed frustration that voir dire had taken most of the day and that the State used its last peremptory challenge on the only person who was not white. TR 371.

Although the State and Miller had passed the jury for cause, (TR 252, 357), Miller suggested that the parties inquire further of Aravjo-Costa. TR 372. Aravjo-Costa reiterated that she felt uncomfortable and emotional (TR 376-77) because there was an African American man standing trial, and because of the discrimination she suffered in the community, that that she could not look at the evidence without getting emotional. TR 377. She explained that she had never been on a jury, that she did not have this system in her country, and this was her first time. *Id.* She did not fear that she would be discriminated against by the other

jurors if she sat on the jury panel, but stated explicitly, “it’s emotional because I know what is not being white. I don’t know what he did, the Defendant did or did not do yet. But I know how I feel – how it is to be discriminated. Only one person with color, because I was discriminated many times.” TR 378.

Miller subsequently withdrew his objection to the State’s use of its peremptory strike against Aravjo-Costa. TR 381.

The Court did not rule on whether the State had articulated a race-neutral explanation for exercising its peremptory strike to eliminate the only non-white juror from Miller’s venire. TR 382.

The jury panel was then sworn and trial commenced.

During closing arguments, the prosecutor made multiple statements that invaded the province of the jury and deprived Miller of the presumption of innocence and a fair trial.

The prosecutor repeatedly commented upon the credibility of the witnesses and suggested to the jury that Miller lied. The prosecutor argued that the State’s witnesses were truthful, stating that Gene Meeks had no motive to fabricate his testimony TR 683, 687. The prosecutor claimed Doug Rogers had no motive to fabricate his testimony. TR 685; 687. The prosecutor vouched for Ehnot, commenting on Ehnot’s “very real fear” many times. TR 689. She said Ehnot’s testimony “was not concocted” out of fear of Campbell. TR 699. She contended

that Ehnot's statements were worthy of belief. TR 723. The prosecutor commented that the State's law enforcement witnesses did not believe Miller. TR 694.

The prosecutor contended that Miller's witness lied, saying that Hanson had "every reason to fabricate something to help his friend." TR 698-99.

The prosecutor also insinuated that Miller lied at trial because when he spoke to law enforcement on scene he had, "no concocted story yet." TR 701. She again suggested he lied by rhetorically asking the jurors, "are all four of those witnesses lying, or is Beau Miller lying?" TR 701. She characterized Miller's statements as self-serving. TR 701, 725. She said that Miller's statements that Campbell ran him off the road on two occasions were "fabrications that never occurred." TR 721.

The prosecutor also commented on Miller's failure to present evidence. She told the jurors that she thought it "interesting that Mr. Miller didn't testify to anything regarding the November incident." TR 724. She commented on Miller's failure to present evidence in the form of a video recording of Campbell running Miller off the road in November. TR 724. The prosecutor pointed out the absence of a justifiable use of force defense, which requires the admission of evidence by the Defendant to prove the affirmative defense. TR 697-98.

The prosecutor also invaded the province of the jury by making repeated conclusory statements of Miller's guilt. She suggested the reasons to find Miller guilty included "that the Defendant was charged." TR 726. She stated, "we are here because the Defendant is guilty," and that Miller's actions are "illegal" and "criminal." TR 683. She repeated that Miller's actions were illegal and criminal. TR 701, 703. Concerning the November incident, she said it wouldn't undo Miller's crime on June 26, 2018: "that still occurred. It still happened. A crime was committed." TR 702. She repeated that "the crime had already been committed." TR 726.

At the conclusion of the jury trial, the jurors found Miller guilty of one count of Assault with a Weapon of Brandon Campbell, guilty of criminal possession of dangerous drugs (marijuana) and guilty of criminal possession of drug paraphernalia. Dkt 67. The jury found Miller not guilty of Assault with a Weapon against Ehnot. Dkt 67.

At the July 23, 2019 Sentencing Hearing, the Court sentenced Miller to 9 years in Montana State Prison, with 119 days credit for time served.<sup>1</sup> The Court also sentenced Miller at that time on a separate criminal offense of Riot to one year

---

<sup>1</sup> The State subsequently moved to dismiss Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs and Drug Paraphernalia with prejudice because the Court had inadvertently failed to sentence Miller on these charges at the July 23, 2019 sentencing hearing. Dkt. 81.

with 57 days credit in the Montana State Prison to run consecutively to his 9 year sentence. Dkt 77.

Miller filed a Notice of Appeal on September 20, 2019. Dkt 85.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing a district court's denial of a *Batson* challenge, the appellate court defers to the district court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. The Court reviews the district court's application of the law *de novo*. *State v. Ford*, 2001 MT 230 P 7, 306 Mont. 517, P 7, 39 P.3d 108, P 7 (citations omitted).

The district court's application of the law regarding the timeliness of a *Batson* –type challenge is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Parrish*, 2005 MT 112, ¶ 9, citing *Ford*, ¶7 (citations omitted).

Structural error is that type of error that affects the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply an error in the trial process itself. *State v. Van Kirk*, 2001 MT 184, ¶ 38 (citation omitted). Exclusion of jurors on the basis of race is a structural error that cannot be harmless. *Id.*, at 240, citing *Brecht v. Abrahamson*, 507 U.S. 6190, 629 -30 (1993). Structural error is presumptively prejudicial and not subject to harmless error review. *Id.* at ¶ 38-39.

While a party must make a timely and specific objection to preserve an issue for the purposes of appeal, *State v. Earl*, 2003 MT 158, ¶ 23, this Court has inherent power to review an issue not preserved in the district court for plain error,

where failing to review the claimed error at issue may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *State v. Finley* (1996), 276 Mont. 126, 137-38 (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Gallagher*, 2001 MT 39).

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