08/19/2021

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 19-0547

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 19-0547

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

BEAU HERMAN MILLER,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County, The Honorable John A. Kutzman, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
C. MARK FOWLER
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
cfowler@mt.gov

JOSHUA RACKI
Cascade County Attorney
JENNIFER QUICK
Deputy County Attorney
121 4th Street North, Suite 2A

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

C. Plain error review is inapplicable in view of Miller's *Batson* challenge withdrawal and acquiescence to the prosecutor's explanation.

Where a defendant has failed to raise an objection, this Court will not review the claim unless the defendant meets his burden to demonstrate that the claim requires application of the plain error doctrine. *State v. Gray*, 2004 MT 347, ¶¶ 16-22, 324 Mont. 334, 102 P.3d 1255. This Court may review an unpreserved claim alleging a violation of a fundamental constitutional right under the common

law plain error doctrine where the defendant establishes failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *State v. Taylor*, 2010 MT 94, ¶¶ 12-13, 356 Mont. 167, 231 P.3d 79. An error is plain only if it leaves one "firmly convinced" that some aspect of the trial, if not addressed, would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, call into question the fairness of the trial or proceeding, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process. *Taylor*, ¶ 17. This Court invokes plain error review "sparingly, on a case-by-case basis, according to narrow circumstances, and by considering the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Williams*, 2015 MT 247, ¶ 16, 380 Mont. 445, 358 P.3d 127.

Miller has not met his burden to demonstrate that his *Batson* claim should be reviewed under the plain error doctrine. Miller, through his counsel, agreed that allowing Aravjo-Costa to serve on the jury would be injurious to Miller: she would likely vote to convict Miller. (Tr. 382:11.) Although Miller proposed the 3-step *Batson* inquiry, he later withdrew it.

By withdrawing his *Batson* challenge, Miller waived his objection to the State's peremptory strike of Aravjo-Costa, and he may only obtain review of his claim by demonstrating that he is entitled to review under the plain error doctrine. *See Turk v. Turk*, 2008 MT 45, ¶ 17, 341 Mont. 386, 177 P.3d 1013 (stating that

parties to a civil case waived their objection to the jury instructions when they withdrew their proposed instructions); Gray, ¶¶ 16-22 (declining to apply plain error review where defendant asked for the language he was objecting to on appeal). Miller acquiesced in the alleged error. In Gray, this Court declined to apply plain error review where a defendant had acquiesced in the error that he alleged on appeal. Gray, ¶¶ 20-22. This Court should similarly decline to exercise plain error review of Miller's Batson claim.

II. The appeal record does not show that defense counsel was ineffective for withdrawing the *Batson* challenge.

A. Standard of review and applicable law

This Court considers IAC claims on direct appeal only if they are record-based. *State v. Ugalde*, 2013 MT 308, ¶ 28, 372 Mont. 234, 311 P.3d 772 (citing *State v. Aker*, 2013 MT 253, ¶ 22, 371 Mont. 491, 310 P.3d 506). When reviewable, such claims present mixed questions of law and fact that are reviewed de novo. *Id*.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Art. II, § 24, of the Montana Constitution guarantee a defendant's right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Hammer v. State*, 2008 MT 342, ¶ 10, 346 Mont. 279, 194 P.3d 699. To succeed on a claim that counsel was ineffective, a defendant must demonstrate both: "(1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that

counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Whitlow v. State, 2008 MT 140, ¶ 10, 343 Mont. 90, 183 P.3d 861 (citing State v. Racz, 2007 MT 244, ¶ 22, 339 Mont. 218, 168 P.3d 685); see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). To satisfy the second prong of Strickland, a defendant "must demonstrate that 'there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." State v. Morgan, 2003 MT 193, ¶ 9, 316 Mont. 509, 74 P.3d 1047 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694). The probability must be high enough to undermine confidence in the outcome. Hammer, ¶ 11.

B. Counsel's failure to prosecute the *Batson* objection was not IAC, particularly shown by Miller's personal agreement with Mr. van der Hagen's chosen tactic that was announced following his legal research and follow-up examination of Aravjo-Costa.

Where an IAC claim is predicated on a failure to object at trial, an IAC petitioner such as Miller must show that an objection would have been proper and would have been sustained. *State v. Jenkins*, 2001 MT 79, ¶ 11, 305 Mont. 95, 23 P.3d 201. Miller, in his opening brief, presents various arguments that Mr. van der Hagen, contrary to the actions he took in the trial court, had in fact sound legal bases from which a *Batson* objection (in all three stages) could have been based. Miller's appellate arguments hold no water because Miller overlooks the significance of his trial counsel's actions shown in the record.

The ultimate and "decisive question" under *Batson* is whether the prosecutor's explanations "should be believed." Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 339 (2003). When questioning Aravjo-Costa further, Miller's counsel solicited a clear admission from Aravjo-Costa that her past traumatic experiences made her unable to be fair to either Miller or the State. (Tr. 379:13-17.) This testimony comported with, and therefore verified, the prosecutor's explanation; more significantly, defense counsel's explanation of why Miller personally did not want Aravjo-Costa on his jury was the same credible, non-discriminatory demeanor-based explanation. (Id. at 382:6-11: Defense counsel, implicitly noting her emotional fragility, said "she will simply go along with convicting . . . she would not exercise independent judgment required by law, and she would convict.") Miller and his counsel's reason for excluding Aravjo-Costa mirrored, and thereby confirmed that the prosecutor's explanation was credible.

Moreover, strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are generally unchallengeable. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. In assessing the reasonableness of Mr. van der Hagen's decision to affirm that Aravjo-Costa should be stricken, this Court must be "highly deferential" to avoid "the distorting effects of hindsight," and "indulge a strong presumption that [his] conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable

professional assistance." *Williams v. Woodford*, 384 F.3d 567, 610 (9th Cir. 2002), quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

Here, the record shows Mr. van der Hagen researched the case law not once but twice. (Tr. at 359:11-12, 374:5-12, 380:18.) He stated that he wanted to find this Court's most recent *Batson* pronouncement (id. at 374:11), and, when conducting additional examination of Aravjo-Costa (id. at 376-80), he consulted with and obtained express concurrence from Miller. (Id. at 382:7.) These acts demonstrate Mr. van der Hagen's decision was informed and objectively reasonable. Cf. Cox v. Donnelly, 387 F.3d 193, 198 (2d Cir. 2004) ("[A] strategic decision is a 'conscious, reasonably informed decision made by an attorney with an eye to benefitting his client.""). As shown, Mr. van der Hagen's plain, tactical reasoning cannot be second-guessed. See Gallo v. Kernan, 933 F.Supp. 878 (N.D. Cal. 1996) (record showed tactical reason not to impeach crying assault victim witness with prior inconsistent statement, noting that impeachment is a matter of trial tactics according to Gustav v. United States, 627 F.2d 901, 906 (9th Cir. 1980)).

Finally, Miller's own personal assessment, in and of itself, was a dispositively debilitating reason why trial counsel would not and could not pursue the *Batson* challenge further; procedurally, as well as substantively, it was going nowhere. *Cf. Stankewitz v. Woodford*, 365 F.3d 706, 720 n.7 (9th Cir. 2004) ("An

attorney's performance is not deficient where . . . it reflects a reasonable strategic choice that aligns with his client's wishes."). While this record does not show the full context of Mr. van der Hagen's off-the-record conversation with Miller about Aravjo-Costa, there may exist additional facts pointing to supplementary reasons why Miller agreed to Mr. van der Hagen's expressed tactic. The Supreme Court has warned against second-guessing counsel's decisions, considering counsel's intimate and outside-of-the-record knowledge of a case:

Unlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings, knew of materials outside the record, and interacted with the client, with opposing counsel, and with the judge. It is "all too tempting" to "second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence."

Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011), citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

Mr. van der Hagen's representation could not have been deficient. Strickland,

466 U.S. at 687-88 (no obligation to raise meritless arguments on a client's behalf).

Lastly, with respect to the *Strickland* prejudice prong, Miller's expression of satisfaction with his jury (directly inferable from his dissatisfaction with having Aravjo-Costa serve on his jury), is toxic to his claim of prejudice. *See Gantt v. State*, 241 Md. App. 276, 209 A.3d 812, 829-30 (2019) (IAC claimant protested the State's use of the peremptory strike, but happily accepted the jury it produced). Miller waived the prejudice prong, if not his IAC claim *in toto*, because his counsel

did what Miller believed should have been done, which was to select a jury that excluded Aravjo-Costa. *See id*.

In sum, because no substantial reasons existed for pursuing a *Batson* challenge, and in fact, there is express evidence showing that Miller did not want Venireperson Aravjo-Costa on his jury, no basis exists for Miller to assert on appeal that his counsel should not have withdrawn his *Batson* challenge.

III. This Court should decline to exercise plain error review of Miller's unpreserved claim of prosecutorial misconduct.

A. Standard of review and applicable law

This Court generally will "not address issues of prosecutorial misconduct pertaining to a prosecutor's statements not objected to at trial." *State v. Ugalde*, 2013 MT 308, ¶ 27, 372 Mont. 234, 311 P.3d 772 (citing *State v. Aker*, 2013 MT 253, ¶ 21, 371 Mont. 491, 310 P.3d 506; *State v. Longfellow*, 2008 MT 343, ¶ 24, 346 Mont. 286, 194 P.3d 694). However, this Court may review such issues under the plain error doctrine. *Aker*, ¶ 21 (citations omitted). The decision to invoke plain error is discretionary. *Id*.

Prosecutorial misconduct may be grounds for reversal of a conviction "if the conduct deprives the defendant of a fair and impartial trial." *State v. Walton*, 2014 MT 41, ¶ 13, 374 Mont. 38, 318 P.3d 1024. But this Court will "not presume prejudice from the alleged prosecutorial misconduct; rather, the defendant must show that the argument violated his substantial rights." *Aker*, ¶ 24 (quotation marks

and citation omitted). When reviewing claims of prosecutorial misconduct, the alleged improper statements must be considered in the context of the entire argument. Aker, ¶ 24.

This Court has explained that an attorney invades the province of the jury and engages in improper behavior when he characterizes the defendant or witnesses as liars or offers personal opinions on a witness's credibility. *Aker*, ¶ 26. But it "is proper to comment on conflicts and contradictions in testimony, as well as to comment on the evidence presented and suggest to the jury inferences which may be drawn therefrom." *Id.* (quotation marks and citation omitted). Similarly, "comment is appropriate on the gravity of the crime charged, the volume of evidence, credibility of witnesses, inferences to be drawn from various phases of evidence, and legal principles involved in the instructions to the jury." *Aker*, ¶ 27 (quotation marks and citation omitted).

B. This Court should decline to exercise plain error review.

Miller argues that the prosecutor's comments provided "opinion[s] of Miller's guilt [that] pervaded her closing argument statements and denied Miller a fair trial." (Opening Br. at 32.) Miller concedes his counsel never objected to the

prosecutor's comments.² For the following reasons, this Court should decline to exercise plain error review.

When a prosecutorial misconduct argument is made for the first time on appeal, this Court first "determine[s] whether the defendant's fundamental constitutional rights have been implicated." *State v. Ritesman*, 2018 MT 55, ¶21, 390 Mont. 399, 414 P.3d 261 (citation omitted). Even then, this Court "will not invoke the plain error doctrine to reverse a conviction when 'the alleged error did not result in a miscarriage of justice, raise a question as to the fundamental fairness of the proceedings, or compromise the integrity of the judicial process." *Id.* (citation omitted.) Miller has not met his burden to firmly convince this Court that failure to reach the merits of his prosecutorial misconduct claim would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice.

This Court has repeatedly refused to conduct plain error review of a prosecutor's comments regarding witness credibility, "even in cases where [this Court has] concluded that the comments were improper." *Aker*, ¶ 29. For example, in *State v. Lindberg*, 2008 MT 389, ¶¶ 33-34, 347 Mont. 76, 196 P.3d 1252, this Court declined to exercise plain error review where the prosecutor referred to a defense witness "as a 'liar' while arguing the State's

² Miller agrees and further concedes that his counsel's "reasons for failing to object are not in the record." (Opening Br. at 41.)

evidence was genuine and truthful." This Court concluded that "the prosecutor's comments d[id] not rise to a level sufficient to invoke the plain error doctrine." Lindberg, ¶ 35.

In Aker, this Court listed many other cases in which this Court declined to exercise plain error review of allegedly improper closing arguments regarding witness credibility. Aker, ¶ 30 (citing State v. Rose, 2009 MT 4, ¶¶ 105-07, 348 Mont. 291, 202 P.3d 749 (prosecutor argued in closing that defendant had told "the big lie"); State v. Lacey, 2012 MT 52, ¶¶ 18-26, 364 Mont. 291, 272 P.3d 1288 (prosecutor argued that the State's witness was "candid," whereas the defendant was not candid and was, "by God," guilty); State v. McDonald, 2013 MT 97, ¶¶ 5-17, 369 Mont. 483, 299 P.3d 799 (prosecutor argued that the State's witnesses were "completely believable" and "telling [the jury] the truth"); *State v. Thorp*, 2010 MT 92, ¶¶ 18, 26-28, 356 Mont. 150, 231 P.3d 1096 (prosecutor told the jury that the victim was "a very credible witness" who had "no reason to lie" and that the jury should believe the victim); State v. Racz, 2007 MT 244, ¶¶ 35-36, 339 Mont. 218, 168 P.3d 685 (prosecutor stated that the State's witness had "no reason to lie," was "honest," and "told the truth"); State v. Arlington, 265 Mont. 127, 157-61, 875 P.2d 307, 325-28 (1994) (prosecutor stated that defendant lied to the jury); State v. Rodgers, 257 Mont. 413, 417-20, 849 P.2d 1028, 1031-33 (1993) (prosecutor called

defendant and his son liars)). These cases demonstrate that this Court should decline to conduct plain error review in this case.

Miller cites *State v. Hayden*, 2008 MT 274, 345 Mont. 252, 190 P.3d 1091, to argue that this Court should review his prosecutorial misconduct argument under the plain error doctrine. (Opening Br. at 30.) But *Hayden* is an egregious example of prosecutorial misconduct, and it does not establish that plain error should be applied in this case. The prosecutor in *Hayden* "unfairly added the probative force of his own personal, professional, and official influence to the testimony of the witnesses[]" by inquiring of one witness about the credibility of other witnesses, by arguing that two of the State's witnesses were "believable" and that the jury could "rely on" the investigating officer's testimony, and by improperly vouching for the efficacy of the officer's search of a residence and stating that the officers did "good work" in searching for drugs. *Hayden*, ¶¶ 14, 31-32, 33.

Unlike in *Hayden*, the prosecutor here did not repeatedly offer her personal opinions about witness testimony or vouch for state witnesses. Instead, the "thrust of the prosecutor's comments at issue here was argument about the evidence and the instructions, rather than interjecting h[er] personal opinion." *See*, *e.g.*, *McDonald*, ¶ 15 (declining to exercise plain error review where the prosecutor had stated that the State's witnesses were "telling you the truth," and one state witness

was "a completely believable witness," and the prosecutor "did not believe" the defendant's comments).

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